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He came back and told us what he salde~the

word,

Q

e Elijah sald and we took him at his

So you actually never heard any agreement

reathed between any repr #tive of s Temple

of Islam, Incorporated and Malcolm X Little?

A

I don't remember because~~he was the minister.
THE COURTs I want you to remember
that you called this witness yourself.

You can cross examine if you want,
MR, BUTTON: Is he a hostile withess?

THE COURTY I ecan't read your mind,

If you went him as & hostile witness,
Bay 90,

MR. SUTTON: May I declare him &
hostile witness?

MR, WILLIAMS: I object on the
ground that is 1s not proved that this wite
ness is hostile,

THE COURT: This was a witness for
the landlord yesterday. I assume he was
not yowr own witness but I cannot read your
mind.

MR, SUITON: For the record, will
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you declave him & hostile witneas?
THE COURT: Yes.

Q Then it is a fact that you never heard any

agr d as bet 's Temple of Islam,
Incorporated and Maleplm X Little with regard to the
terms of his employment as minister?

A No, that's not true. e was the one who sald
it.

Q T¢11 up when you heard the agreement reached
as between Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Incorporated and
Malcolm X Little?

A Sometime around 1956.

% ¥ho reached the agreement on behalf of the

Muhammed's Temple of Islam, Incorporated?
A He came back with the report from Honorable

Elijah Muhammad, and $old us.

Q You considered that the reaching of an agree-
ment between Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Incorporated
and Maleolm X Little?

A He was the top official. We Yook what he sald.

Q Is Muhammad the same--the spiritual Muhammad
the same person as Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Ineorp-
orated?

A That's what the name is under, yes.
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Q S0 there are two bodies, one spiritual body
and one corporate body?
A The spiribual body has its central headquarters
in Chicago,

MR, WILLIAMS: I object. This
ealls for an opinion on the part of this pare
ticular witness.

‘THE COURT: It's cross examinatlion,
He's bound by hig answer. If he wants it,
he can have it.

Q The spiritual body bas its headquarters in
Chicago, 1s that right?

A He has Jurisdiction overw-

Q You received instructions from him as to the
operation of the spiritual body?

A Through the minister.

Q I see, This is the procedure throughout the
country, is that correct?

A As far as I know.

Q Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Incorporated
cperated under this procedure, is that correct?

A As far as I know, yes.

Q  What was the method of discharging persons
under 1%, if you know, ministers? What was the method
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of -discharging?

A I don't know, That was taken care of by the
Honorable E11jah Muhammad hinseif, We had nothing to
do with the discharge of any minister.

Q You don't know what that procedurs is?

A Ho, sir.

Q You dontt know the procedure used by Muhammad's
Temple of Islam, Incorporated to discharge Maleolm X

Little?
A We had no jurisdiction o discharge a minister.

Q Has Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Incorporated,
t0 your own pergonal knowledge, discharged Minlster
Maloolm X Little?

A He discharged himself.

Q !inl the temple diseharged him?

A He discharged himself.

e hould you ann&r the guestien? Has the
temple taken any procedure to discharge him?

A Yes.

Qe What was the procedure taken by Muhammad's
Temple of I;lu. Inesrporated to discharge Minister
Maleolm X Little?

A The letter we wrote.

e The letter which was offered over the tenant's
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objection and is now murked Landlordfs Exhibit 5, is
that you say the method of discharging?

A We discharged him ourself, We wrote to him
on vesponse of what he had said. Since he had publiely
seid thet he was finished and sald that, we woote him 8
letier in response.

Q You asiked him?

A He was d by ble Elijah M d.

Q He was susponded by Elljah Puhsnmad?
A Yeu.
MR SUITONs Noshing further of
this witness.

CRGSS EXAMINATION
BY MR, WILLIAMS:

& ¥hen di¢ the suspension take place?

A The eusﬁunsion took place in December, as far
as I know,

) This was from his religlous duties?

A Yesn.

Q Subsequently thereto, did he then not come
back to the temple au all?

A Ho.

Q It was after this that he wade these public

gtatements and set up another organization?
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MR, SUTTON: Objection, There haa
been no testimony about him setting up another
organization.

THE COURT: There was testimony.

MR. SUTTON: Let's hear it from this

witness.

Q It was after that. that this letter was sent,
randlord's Exhiblt 5, to Minister Maleolm X Little?
A Yes.
Q Has he performed any dutles since the time that
he publicly declared he digsassociated himself from his--
MR, SUTTON: ObJection, That's the
point we haven't had any statement by him
pbecause I would like to question him on it if
he does make 1B,
THE COURT: Let him finish the guestion.
Secondly, your objection is overruled,
MR. SUITON: HMay 1 state my objection
for the record?
THE COURT: et him finish his question,
You interrupved him in the middle.
Proceed,
MR, SUTTONs I thought he was through.

MR, WILLIAMS: ©No, 1'm nob,
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THE COURTs Reframe your guestion.
W At any time after Minister Malcolm declared
publicly that he was disassociating himself from the
body, has he performed any duties as winister?
A Nog iy,
MR, SUTTONs Objection. There has
been no testimony by this witness that
Hinister Maloolm publicly disassociated hime
seifs

THE COURT: He sald s0 a few minutes

MR. BUTTONs D14 he state 1v?

THE COURTs I'n not being cross
exanined.

MR, SUTTON: 1I'm not. You only sald
he said it.

THE COURT: Proceed,

Q Is 1t your testimony that after Minister

Malcolm came back to the body and reported to the body

that the body then agreed to pay what he said Mr.

had ded?
That's right.
Q Did you oconsider that the means whereby he

wal being compensated for his services?
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MR, WILLIAMS: Nothing further.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR, SUTTON:
2 You sald he publicly stated that he was in sus-
pension,
A Not in suspension. He publicly stated that
he quit.
¥hen did he say that?
Sometime in Marech.
Were you present? Did you hear him?
When he made the statement?
Yeor.
Present with him?
Yes.
A I was not present with him.
Q Then you don't know what he said, de you person-
ally of your own knowledge?
20 A Personally of my own knowledge, no,
21 THE COURT:  All right. Step down,.

22 MR. SUTTON: Minigter Hinry, please.

23 HENRY DAV SON, residing at 120

24 Baruch Drive, Hew York, New York, was called as a

25 witness by the respondent, was duly sworn and
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bestifled as follows:s
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR, SUITON:
Q Minister Henry, how long have you been active
in tuhammad s Temple of Islam, Incorporated?

A Would you explain that, please?
Q Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Incorporated is

the petitioner here. There is an allegation in the
petition thak prior to March 1964 your petitioner as
employer entered into an agreement of employment with
Maleoln X Little, and 1t is that breakdown that I ask
you the question how long have you been a member of --
withdrawn. Are you a member of Muhammed's Temple of
Islam, Incorporated?

A I am 8% present.

Q How long have you been a member?

A Vhen you say am I a member--just for elarifi-
cation, when you say am I a member, am I a member of the
board or what?

Q Just a member. Are you 2 member first?

A I have besn a member.

Q Ave you now a member?

A I am now a member,

Q Have you been & member since 1956, continuously
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I am one of the corporate members,

A
[} Since 1956 you have been a corporate member?
A

Yes.

R - During all of thab time wp to March 1964 and o
the present, was Minister Malecolm X Little also & member?

A Not to March 1964,

Q Wag any--you said not to Marceh?

A That's right«

] ¥Well, let me ask you this: Is Minister Malcolm
X Little atill a member of the incorporated body of
Muhammad's Temple of Islawm, Incorporated?

A ¥os sir.

Q He is not?

A No, sirs

Q Do you know of any proceeding that took place
te remove him from his position of membership?

A He left on his own.

% He did, sir?

A Yes.

Q Did he give notice Lo you as & member of
Mubammed's Tomple of Islam, Incorporsated?

A No, sir, not to wme,

Q Did you hear him state that he left?
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& I did not hear him state %,

Q Then you do not know of your own personal
knowledge that he lef't Muhammad's Temple of Islam,
Incorporated?

A Personally 1 do.

Q Do you?

A Yes.

Q How do you know?
A I know through the NHew York Times.

Q You read it in the newspapers. Is that the
only way you know?

A Yes.

MR, SUTTON: Nothing further.
CROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR, WILLIAMS:

Q You haven't seen Minister Maleolm perform any
of bis duties after March of 1964, have you?

A No, #ir, he has not.

Q Do you know, of your own knowledge, whether or
not he is engaged in any work at the present time?

A Yes, sir, I do.

Q What work is that?

A He has formed an organization of his own called
the Muslim Mosgue, Incorporated.
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@ Do you know members of that organization also?

A Yes, I do,

Q Were gome of these members formerly members
of the petitioner organization here?

A Yes.

MR. WILLIAMS: No further questions.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR, SUTTON:

Q This raises a question for me, As a mattax
of fact,; you served as an assistant to Minister Maleolm
for over a period of six or eight years.

A I was an assistant, yes, sir.

Q During that time you saw Minister Maloolm sent
out to organize mosques in many sectors of this country?

A He sald he was sent oub.

Q You never went with him?
A HNo.

Q You ¢id see him go out and organize other
mosques, didn't you?
A I saw him go out,

And they incorporated those mosques?

Q
A I 4id not see him organisze those mosques.
Q

You knew that he did organize them, didn't you?

MR. WILLIAMS: I objects The witness




Dawson - redirect
heg answered that he 4id not.

THE COURT: I don't know, You're
trying to break down your own witness, Mr.
Sutton.

MR, SUTTONs May I ask that he be
declared a hostile witness?

THE COURT: Hot now. Finish with
your witness.

Are ysu in any structurs now withdrawn?
B

¥What is that structure?

Muhamandts Temple of Islam,

¥hat is your position?

I'nm a trustee.

When were you elected a btrustee?

Approximately, March.

in March?

Yes.

¥Wus a mecting heid for this election?

Yes, it was.

What notice was given of this meeting?

It was a verbal notice.

Is vhat the only notice you had?

Best notice,
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Was this the only notice you
Yene
And the meeting wes called for when?
it was called sometime in March.
Do you know when in Harvch?
know it was somebtime in March, I don't know
the exact date,
Who way present at that meetl
Hembers of the congregation.
Was this a corporate meeting?
Yes.
¥hat did the members of the congregation do?
A Minister James had appointed me to be a trusiee
15 of Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Inc, and he brought thia
16 to the members of the congregation,
17 Q Is Minister James the minister of Muhammad's
18 temple of Iaslam, Inc.?
19 A Yes, he is the minister assigned by the Honore
20 able Elijah Muhammad.
21 *} He 1s now presiding there?
22 A He was sent o us by the Honorable Elijah
23 puhammad.

24 Q ¥You were appointed by him a trustee of the

25 corporate body of Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Incorporated?
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A Withthe approval of the members of the body
and appointed by him.

You had a meebing?

Yes,

At &8 result of this?
Yes.
SUTTONs Thank you very much,

THE COURT: All right, Step down.
roceed, counsel,
MR, SUTTONs Hay I have a five-minute
recess?

THE C¢ right,.
ereupon, & five-minute recess wes had,)

THE COURT: Proceed.

SUTTONs Minister Malcolm X Litt

EXTTLE, residing ab

23~11 97th Street, East Elmhurst, New York, called

as a witness by the respondent, was duly affirmed
and bestified as follows:
22 DIRECT EXAMINATION
235Y MR. SUTTON:

24 Q Hinisber Little, would you keep your voice up

25and bell me, #ir, how long have you been a member of
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Mubammad 's Temple ¢of Islam, Incorporsted?
A staes 1952,

Incorporated, sir,

Q
A Since 1t was first incorporated in 1956,
]

Have your services with Muhsummd's Temple of
Iglam, Ine. ever been terminated?

A They have never been terminated.

Q Muhanmad's Temple of Islam is an incorporated
body incorporated in the State of New York, is that
eorrect?

A Right,

Q Were you one of the incorporators?

A Yes.

Q Separate and apart from Muhammad's Temple of
Islam, Inc., i8 there a spiritual body, & higher spiritual
body that has 1ts local outside of New York City?

A Yes.

Q What is that?

A That®s the entire Muslim body known as the
Nation of Islam.

{ Ministors who handle the varicus templese-lfy

B80Ty . Withdrawn. The place of worship in each of
the eities where there is a member of the Nation of
Islam--what is this temple known as?
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MRe WILLZANS: i your Honow, plense,
I'n godng to objeet now unless Mr., Sutton is
£0ing to qualify this witness 88 an expert on
this particular religion,
MR, SUYTON: I will be hag
How long have you been in the Hation of Islam?
8 A Since 1952,
9 How many Lewples are there in the Nation of
10 Islam, t0 your own pergonal knowledge?
1 A in 1952 there were ten,
12 Q How many are there today? You don't nave to
138ive me 'v;m‘ exact number,
14 A There are more than Uhirty five outright that
158¥¢ numbered but there 4s a Temple of Islam in Practically--
1648 WOST o the cibies of this eountry,
17 Q Of thoge how many aid you personally organize,
18407
19 A Well, I was involved in the Organizing of
2PPaciically every one above nanber ten.

21 Q 80 that of all the temples that have been organ-

zéxed ainee 1950, you had some involvement in theip oOrgan-

232atlon, is that correct?
24 A Yes,

25 Q liould you 8ay, B8iv, that during the course of
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this time pou got to know the Islamic faith as practlded
by the Nation of Islam in America?

A Yes, I probably spread it personslly in more
different cities than all of the rest of the Honorable
Elijeh Muhesmad's winlsters combined,

Q Would you say, sir, that you had had intimate
knowledge of the procedures, practices, customs, rules
and regulatlons of the n of Izlam in America?

A ¥ou, X bhave beon sctively dinvelved in the ade
ministratl of more Temples of Islam than any other
individual in the Ne of Xglam.

MR, SUITON: Would you now concede

that he
May I ingquire?
vercainly.
Gertainly.
AMINATION BY MR, WILLIAMS:

Q Now, sip, you say that you have been involved
with She adminisiration. You don'y wean the national
headguariers?

Out of the nabional headquarters,

Do you have a uational position?

Yas, I wes bhe nationad miulsber.

Ave you now the macional minister?
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am in puspenslon now.

You are in suspension now, is that your position?
I am in 2 state of suspension now.
By whom were you suspended?
By the Honorable EILL jah Muhanwmed,
Do you still sdhere to the Hotion of Islam and
the Honorable Muhammmd's orders and directions?
A I am in suspension.
Q ¥You say you ere in suspension, Doss that mean
that you do not abide by bhe directives and the requests
» Honorable Elijah Muhammad?
In a state of suspensione-
Angwer my question.
MR, SUTTON: Just a moment, Give him
opportuniiy 0 answer.
THE COURT: i think you both ave oub
line.
Pirgs of all you are questioning him
as 40 whether he is qualified and now you
are going ints oross examinsbion.
MR, WILLIAWS: o, I waB not oross-
examining. Withdrawn,
N Are you familiar with the methods whereby

minigters ave appointed and removed and how a minister




Little - divect
ean be removed?
A Yoma
] an there be more than one minister in any oue
particular mosque?
A No, -there can bes<ip that with Qualificady
Q2 All right. et me hear it.
A In & mosqQue there can be a minister and then
ministers.
As mesoctiate ministers or nssistant ministers?
That's corvect,
But there oan only be one minister who {8
actually the spiritval lesder?
That hae %o be gualified.
Ho is the nead?
This answer has 0 be qualified. I was the
only minister who was a national minister. A1l other
ministers were local ministers, I was & national

minlster and a local minister,

20 Q Who made you a national minister?

21 A Honorable Elijah Muhammad,

22 [*] is 1% a normal evangelistic type of thing that
23you called yowrself 8 national minister?
24 A fie called me 2 national minister. I had never

25cglled myself that,
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Qe Now, he called you now a national minister, is
that correct?

A Nos The designation or title or office of
national minister i3 something that the Honoreble Elijah
Muhssmed set up himself snd sowething that he himself
always stated,

Q But this is not fized in the hievarchy?

A Yes,

Is it 8 part of the structure?
Yes,
How many are
Cnly one,
¥hat ave the fications for it?
He qualified
What was the qualification for 1t?
Well, thee~-what made me--
18 3 I am asking the qualifications,
19 I'm giving you the answer, What made me the

20 national minister was the work that I had done at a

21 pational level in organizing the Nation of Islam,

22 ) 1tm asking--
23 A No other minister organized or functioned ab
24a national level.

25 Q But there were no other qualifications but what
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the orable Elijah M d said is the national min-
ister, iz that correct?

A Yes.

: And you followed the Honorable Elljah Muhammad's
eall yourself as a national minister in the Naplon of
Islam, is that correct?

A I never referred to myself as a--any btitle,
This was the title that he gave, the same as national
ninister; nutional captaln and mational secretary.

Were you a minister?

Yess

Did you consider yourself a minister when you
perforned your duties?

A Yes.

9 Belore your guspension, as you say, you wers
minister?

A Yes.

Q Now, ave you familiar with the methods of
appointment of the ministers?

Yen.
Who appoints them?

ble Elijah ¥ du

Does anyone question this?

Ho.
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That's absolute, ia that corrach?
Yes,
Q tmgl he appoints one minister to be spiritual
leader of each mopque, is that correct?
A Yes.
MR, WILLIAMS: No further questions,
DIRECT EXAMINATION (continued)
BY MR, SUTTON:
Q Do you know the method of termination?
A Yes.
Q Tell us thab.
A whenever a minister under the Honorable Eld jah
Muhammad 18 terminated with hils services, he is brought

in front of the Muslin body and whatever reason for which

he is terminated is stated to that body.

MR SUTTON Thank you very much.
D0 you concede he is an expert?
MRe WILLIAMS: One other question and

then 1 will concede that he is an expert.

Q Hea=-
23 A If charges are levelled against him, then he
24 has & chance to defend himself against any charges that

25 are levelled againss him even by the Honorable Eld jah
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2 Muhawmad.
3 Q A1l right. Dow, this I must ask you: Wwho
4 was predecessor in your office as minister of Muhammad's
5 Tomple of Islam, Inc.?
6 A Sultan.
7 Q Do you know how he was removed?
8 MR. SUTTON: Just a moment, Trere is
9 a question that hasn't been answered,
A Sultan was not my predecessor,
-1 Who was 1t?
A I had no predecesgor because there was no
national minister.
Q You mean that Muhaumed's Temple of Islam, Inc.
must have a national minisier?
A 1 was bhe first person to ocoupy the position

that I was occupying at the time of my suspension.

Q I'm not saiking about the time of your sus-

pengion. i'm divecting your atvention o0 the time that
you assumed the duties as minister of Muhammad's Temple
of lglam, Inc.? When was that?
MR« BUTTON: May I make an objection?
We ave going on now, I think--we are questioning
whether or not he is an expert. This is not

within the realm of determining that.
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THE COURTS Thie is direct oxamina-
tion. You go ahead to your heart's content
afterward,
EXAMINATION (continued)
SUTTON:

Q During the course of questioning as to whether
or not you were an expert, 2 question was asked of the
method of termination, You say there was a hearing
before removal,

Yes.

Pid you ever have & hearing?
oo

Were you ever removed?

1 was suspe d e

No,
Have you ever resigned?
Ho. I asked for a hearing, They wouldn't
me one.
Q Have they given you a hearing yet?

A Nevar gave me a hearing.

] They allege in the petition that your duties

were terminated, Have your dutles with Muhammed's
Temple of Islam, Inc. ever been terminated?
A No, sir.

Q Now, would you now remove from these premises




Little - « ot 138
if you wers zllowed @ hearing that you were entitied 5o?

A Yes, I would move from vhese premiges if 1
were permitted a hearing in front of the Muslim body
a8 has always been the case according to the procedures

tion of Islam,

MR, WILLIAMSS If your Honor please,
I object to this. I ask that this be stricken
because this 1s a situstion here--we are
dazling privarily with one question and the
one question is on the question of this
termination. We are now getting inte a
question of the religious beliefe and tenets

the Navion of Ialam,

q COURT: ¥You didntt object to
all of the hearsay before it, There must
be something in writing out apparvently there
is nothing in writing.

4 is there anyvhing in writing with regard to
national customs, practices--withdrawn, Are there
any rules and regulations in writing with regard to the
employment or termination of employment of ministers in
the Nation of Islam?

A No, not employment, no, sir.

Q What about termination of employment?
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A Ho.

Q When you gpeak of the rules and regulations,
are these in fact customs and practices?

A Customs and practices that have become a form
or procedure,

Q You heard the witness testify that you received
a8 selary, Have you ever received a salary, sir?

A No.

Q Di¢ you hoar bhem Sestify hhas you received

$125 and $150 a week salayy?

A Yes,

Q Would you tell the court what, if any monies,
you received during your ministry and for what purpose
was that money tendered to you?

A First, there weren't five people in Muhammed's
Mosque or Muhammad's Temple of Islam who could tell you
what I received per week,

MR, WILLIAMS: I object, not responsive,.
THE COURT: Yes, be responsive to
the gquestion. Strike it out.

Q How many people in the Muhamwmad's Temple of
1slam, Inc. that could tell how much money you received
a week?

MR. WILLIAMS: I object. Irrelevant.
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2 THE COURT: 1 don't know. Proceed.
3 A At Muhammad's Temple of Islam, there weren't
4 but three people in the entire temple that could tell
5 you what amount of money was made avallable for me each
6 waek,
i Q Was this money made available to
8 palary?

9 A No.

10 5] What -was this wonoy given to you £or and whay

11 was 1t used for?

12 A That's why I sald my position in the movement

13 was wnigue.

14 W, M3 I wmove that be utric
THE COURT: Strike it out.

16 Q Was there anyone else that had the same position

17 but you in the within movement?

18 A No,

19 Q Would you consider that unique?

20 MR, WILLIAMS: Ob jJection,

21 ‘THE COURT: Strike it out.

22 3 You were the only one in the position of

23 national minister?

24 A Yed.

25 Q Was this money given to you in your poamition
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as & national minister as well 28 minister of Muhammad's
Temple of Islam, Inc.?

A That amount was made available to me to carry
on_the work thab i was doing in organizing the mosgue
threughort the countay. I ever eny expenpes exceeded
that I could get that--there was no limit to the amount
of money that I had access to, but the winimuw was always
$150 a weelk.

Q What did you use this noney fer?

A I used it to propogate the teaching of the
Honorable Elijah Muhammed intoe organizede-othsr Muslim
communities in various eities throughout the country.

Whe got this money to you, sir?
The gecretary--
Who gave it to you?
he secretary.
Where did it come from; Al you know?
A Yes, it came from the funds in the mosque in
20 the temple.

£l Q When it was in excess of $150 for traveling

29 and otherwise, where did 1t come from?

23 MR, WILLIAMS: Objection.

24 THE COURT: First of all you are

25 leading the witness. He can go himself withous
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leading.
You sald propogating the faith. How did you
I aldn't want to go into all of these debails,

I was--as I 8314, I uas the national miniater

which meeut very seldom 4id I have the opportunity or I

should have the privilege to stay in New York City but

travel.

In most other temples around the eountry, the

minigters were weak snd incapable,

¥Re WILLIANS: I move Phat this all
be stricken,
MR, SUTTON: A1l vight.
THE COURT: You are losing sight of
{ssues here. Thls porson may be unique
8 impression and other people's ilmpressions
but we are confronted with one situation heve.
MR, SUTTON: The question is
whether or not thers was smployment and there
has been testimony there was employment and
there was a salary,
THE COURT: The fact that it was an
effort %o aveid taves, that you may g9 into,
MR, SUTTON:s No, I won't go into that
unless you want me to go into it,

THE COURT: But sbtay within the issues.
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SUTTON: I don't think avelding
taxes would be beneficial to me., Don't direct
me into & thing that would be damaging to my
elient. I don't intend doing that.
THE COURTS Theye was soms allegation
made yesterday that $150 was made in cash
for the purpose of avoiding taxes.
MR, SUTTON: Are you suggesting that
I go ianto that but I ean't go into this other?
THE COURT: You can qQuestion him about
hig-~stay within the field.
M. BUTTON: All right.
1 Did yow hear them testify that you received
for salary?
A Yes.
Q Wag that $150 received for salary?

A o, sir.

Y ¥hat was 1t received for?
A

It was recelved to help me propagate the
religion of Islam in the office I had,
Q Was it in the natwre of a drawing account?
Yen.
MR, WILLIAMS: I object bto your

leading now.
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THE COURTS You are leading.
MR, SUTUON:  How can I get~~
THE COURT: You know better than that.
Ask him what the purpese is. Let him give the
answers,
Q What would happen in the event there was more
than $150 a week needed for the propagation of the faith?
A 1 had access to move.
Q ¥here was that that you got it Irom?
A Sume source.
%) Suppuse the $150 a week was not used by you
for propapating the faith, what happened to the mo y then?
MR WILLIANSE Ob jection,
‘IHE COURT: Overruled,
A I always used ik, If I wasn't here at &
that it became due, it was held for me until I returne
Q Did you receive from time bto blme Craveling
expenses from persons when you made personal speech
or speaking engagementa?

s A Yes.

22 Q  Wnat wam donme with this money?

23 A They wers alwaye turned into the treasury of

24 the mosqua.
25

Q During the time that you were receiving what
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iz alleged Yo have been a salary of $150 a week, 4id
you receive outside income for services rendered in
the nature of speaking engagements and otherwise?

A I have never received any income,

2 Where did that money go to?

A To the temple treasury.

Q With regard to magazmine articlies and other
things that you were paid for, d4id you rpcelve the money?

A Always to the Lemple sreaswry and it wes used
to propagate the Honorable Elljah Muhammad's teaching.

8 llone of this money ¢ame to you personalily?

A Ho, sir, but I had access 0 money for the
propagation of the faith,

Q ¥as there ever an agreement of employment
entered into bebtween you and Muhammad's Temple of Islam,
Inc. whereby you were to ocoupy the house as long as
¥you were minister of that temple?

A No, 8ir. No, sir. The house agreement
was between me and the Honorgble Elijah Muhammed himself.

Q What was that agreement, sir?

A ine house was purchased for we., The Honorable
Eiijah Muhammed told me that the house should be mine,

Q Should be yours?

A ¥es, was mine, You will have to excuse my
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2 Eaglish, The Hondrable Elijeh Mansmmed told me it was
3 wmy house, that the house was purchased for me,
4 MR, WILLIAMS4 I object and ask that
5 all this be stricken on the grounds that he is
glving & conversation--an allezed conversation
with a person.

THE COURT: Overruled,
9 A As it was testifled to yesterday, everything
10 gomes from the Honorsbile Elijah Suhsowad. He gives the
11 opders for averything. As they pointed oubt, he gave
12 1% chrough me. I have o tell this conversation that
13 took place betwesn me and him or they wouldn't know
14 what took place.
45, Q Would you tell us what the conversation was?

16 A Yess I had gotben married and had a couple<-

1

7 rather my wife and ehild and we were iiving in evamped
18

guarters and the Musiims had been trying o get me to
‘smmm into larger quarters for a long time which I kept
20refusing wntil finally the Honopable E1ijah Muhamnad
2lingistea that & house be purchased for me and when

Z2the house was purohased he kold me over and over that

2344 should be in wy name, thet it was for me because of

24%he work I was doing and had been doing 80 I told him
2%hat I would ratheres
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Q Hay I interyupt? Was this the work you were
doing for the Temple Isiam or as national minister?

A Hational minister because my work with the
Musiim movement was separately from my positlon as
ragional winist aver was ab the local wosqgue
wore than maybe onoe a month or sometimes a little
move than thai. I was traveling from coast to coast
and he told we that I should have this house for my
fanily s0 they would have some plase to be comfortable
during wy many asbsences.

8 the house bought
Yeny it was,
In whose name was
I think Curtis Kenner.

he houss delivesed over o you to

¢ any limitation placed by the
Honorable Blljah Mubsmmad &8 ¥ how long you were to
occupy that house?
A Hoo the Honorable Elijah Muhammad made

plain bo me that the house was mina.

tlwe Honorable Elijah iuhammad, following

the custems and practices of Phe Muslim peliglon, ever
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terminated your smploywent?

A No. When this came up, I wrobe to the
Honorable Elijsh Muhammad, which I have 2 copy of the
letber; and t0ld him that there was a move afoob to
put me out of the house which was mine and I told him
that I would still get out if they would bring me in
front of the Muslims and let me defend myself againat
the charges that had been levelled against we in wy
abgante ., That's all X asked was a hearing.

THE COURT: Arven't you being in-
congistent? In one breath you tell ug the
house was bought for you and in the next
breath you tell us you were ready to gat
out .

o, I'm not being
inconsistent. From the time I left the
Huslia movement, wantedw~I didntt wang
what the reason for my being put out made
known %o the public and I wae willing to
make that saerifice te keep 1% from being
made known to the public and I asked thewm

{or a private hearing and they would not

let me have it so this is why it ended up

in court,
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Q Are you still in suspension?

A Yes, sir.

Q You said when you left the Muslim movement,

did you mean by thas?

A When & was put out by the Honerable Elijah
Mubanmad--when L was put out I was actually put out
by the agreement of three persons, the Honorable
Elijah Muhawmad, Raymond Sharleff and John ¥
and there was a hearing batwesn the &

that took place At the time that I was pub out,

] 8ir, have you at any time been called before
the body--the organized body which you sa
the Muslim movements for Gha puspese of condusting a
hearing on any charges brought against you to temminate
your employment with Muhammad's Templs of Islam, Inc,?

MR, WILLIAMS: This ia repetitious.
I objset,
THE COURT: Cverruled.

F ! Ne, sir, I have never been brought before
the body and given a hearing when a person is belng
put ounbs i had 8 hearing hefore three other national

officials. There ave four national officlals in the

Nation of Islam, the Honorable Elijah Muhammad, Raymond

Sharieff and John Ali, The hearing was based upon
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something that I had come back and told the saptain
in New York and they didn't want it to be made public
#80 they kspt that closed hearing.
Q Was this the preliminary heering that was to
ake place bhates
M, WILLIAMS: I object to that.
Q This hearing that was held, a preliminary
hearing that was held before the Nation--
A Yeg; that was ¢ preliminary hesring, if I may
BaY. This was a preliminary hearing at which 1t was
stated that at the end of nine days which was to terme
inate on the last day of February, I would then be
brought before the Husiin body and given a public
hearinrg. That wae on January 6th in Phoenix, Arizona,
Q VWas there ever a hearing?
A No.
Have you asked for one?
Yes. I wrote during the entire time that I

was in that particular suspended state asking the

Honorable Elijah Muhammed asking for one thing alone,

2 hearing, at the end of those nine days but during
thoge times he used his position yo polson the--
MR, WILEIAMS: 1 object wo all

this and ask 4t be stricken.
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THE COURT: This is a defense,
I don't sce how 1t's relevant to the question
before me, Mr, Sutton,

MR, SUTTON: On the relevancy of
the question of appointment.,

THE COURT: Thank you for interrupte
ing me, Y.u are a distinguished lawyer.
1 will give you some lecway later.

MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you, your Honor,

Q Mre Minister Malcolm X Little, tell me, sir,
have you heard comments during the course of this triale-

testimony, rather, to the effect that you resigned from,

Muhammad's Temple of Islam, Inc,? Did you hear that

testimony?
A Yes, I did.
Did you ever resign?
No, I never have.
What 13 the mathod of resignation 1f one does
seek to resign?
A No Muslim minister has ever resigned.
MR, WILLIAMS: I object to the
question on the ground that the answer is
not responsive.

THE COURT: It i3 hearsay of the




20

21

22

23

24

25

Iittle - direct 152
worst type. I am taking 1%, nevertheless.

A There 1s no such thing as a resignation of
a Muslim minister of the Nation of Islam.

Q Do you say this from your personal knowledge
of customs, practices and procedures?

A Yes,

Q There was a minlster in Washington, the
minister of the temple in Washington during the course
of your time as & naticnal minister there who was
removed from office, is that gorrect?

A It was 2 highly publicized fact that I was
sent there by the Honorable Elijah Muhammad himself
and held a hearing for that minister when he was ve-
moved.

Q Was a hearing conducted under the procedures~-

A Yes, he was brought before the. body. in Wash-
ington, D. C.

Q Did you, as a representatvive of the Honorable
Elujah Muhammad, conduct a hearing for that body?

A Yem,

Q Was this in accordance with the cusioms,
practices and procedures?

A Tals is the procedure in Philadelphia. That

one was removed there Just a month ago and he was
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brought before the bedy.
Q In accordance with the procedures?
A Yes, in accordance with the procedures.
MR. SUTTON: Nothing further of
this witness.
GROSS EXAMINATION
BY ¥R, WILLIAMS:
Q 8ir, now you say thate-
THE COU! May I first 28k a
question to enlighten myself?
Give me that exhibit.
I notice in this exhibit, Landlord's
Exhibit 5, 1 X, 2 X, T X, What does that
mean?
THE WITNESS: #Well, the Honorable

£lijah Muhammad has always taught us that

the names that our people of this country

have are a holdover {rom slavery. Like
Jones doesn't fit a black man. It fits an
Irishman,
THE COURT: What does 9 X mean?
THE WITHBSS: i'm getting to that.
The name, Murphy, doesn't fit a

black man. IiIt's an Irish name.
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He temchem us that these were vames
given during slavery, so when one receives
his teaching and comes under his religious
or spiritual guidance, the X negates the

slave name.

If one person comes in named Henry,
he is H ury X, then two, three, four X, and
8o forth,

THE COURT: it's not the degree or
qualifications of the individual?

THE WITNESS: Itt's only the time
he came or how many were befors him and so
forth,

THE COURTs A1l yight., Proceed.

Minister, you say there 1s a fixed procedure

for suspending or terminating ministers in the Muslim

movement, is that correcy?

A

Q

Yea.

Will you spell that out in detail? Tell us

what that procedure is.

A

When a minister is removed--well, for one

thing he ¢can be rewoved for one Oor two purposes--one

or two reasons, Either he 1s not effective in the

funetioning as a minister or he has broken some law,
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some rule, soma regulation.

Q You held a preliminary hearing before whom?

MR, SUTTON: You asked him for the
procedure. UbJection, your Honor.

TEE COURT: Proceed.
Preliminary hearing before whom?

A The Honorable Elijah Muhammad.

Q Every minister who gs to be suspended 1s
entitled to a preliminary hearing before the Honorable
Elijah Mubammad?

Yes.

Where 1g ghis written?
Where is 1t written?
Yes.

A None of this is written.

Q How many ministers that have been removed
that you knew had a preliminary hearing before the

Honorable Elijah Muhammsd? Did the man in Philadelphia

have a preliminary hesring before the Honorable Elijah

Muhawmad ?
A Yes.
) Before the Honoyable Elijah Muhammad?
A He doesn't have $0 appear in person to get

a hearing. If the charges are--
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If charges are levelede-

MR. SUTTON: Just a moment. May
1 object to counsel interrupting him?

MR. WILLIAMS: I'm cross examining.

MR. SUTTON: If he is responding to
a question, he should be permitted to complete
his answer,

THE COURT: Cross examination,

MR, WILLIAMS: Thank you, sir.

q You say that the man maey be represented

a proxy at this hearing

A a what?

Q Somebody else, a atandin, somebody clse ¢
represent him?

A Noy no.

Q He must be there in person?

A Ne. JIf charges come to the Honorable Elijah
Muhammad on & minister, the Honorable Elijah Mubammad
weighs these charges, Now, he can give the minister
& hearing by mail, by phone. There are many ways., All
he has to do is contact that minister and hear his
story.

Q Did the ble Elijah d ever hear

your story?
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A story involved ¢t Hanorable E11 jah
Huhammad .
Yes or no.

My story invelved the Honorable Elljah

you the guestion did he hear your

Yes, sir.
You.
By wzy of suspension?

Yes,

89 that gt th point he haé made his ruling.

is 18 the person who rules on this so you in effect

& prelimirary hearing, that by custom and usage?

me see.”
him Ury Go und
% COURTY Ny, Suttone-
SUTTON: May I direct it to you?
May he pause for
THE COURT: ind praysr, I think,

MR, SUTTON: Not in prayer, Just
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meditation.
THE Prayer, too.
THE COURT: Proceed, Mr. Williams,

Do you understand the qustion?

saild that the Honorable i1ijah Muhammad
relizinary hearing to any minister who is
removed accom and usage?
made this in 2 number of

irges had been made and he weighs

Ltelephone, is

ke preliminary hearing you

that correct?

And I gaid to you in effect you had charges
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made against you and the ble Elijah

heard them and responded to you by suspending you, 80
you had your preliminary hearing, is that correct?

A No, I had a partial hearing, sir., It never
wes completed,

Q You did not get your complete charges to
him or your complete answer to him?

A My--the charges that were directed agalnst
me invelyed the Honorable Elijah Muhammad.

Q Now, in other words, what you are saying is
this: You are saying now that the Honorable Elijah
Vuhammad could not pass on this because he was in-
velved; is that what you are saying?

A Ho.

Q You are saying that,

A But the charges that were leveled against me
wae misinformation by the capvain of the New York
Mosque that was sent to the Honorable Ellijah Muhammad
lmi the Honorable Elijah Muhammad told me himself that
he would not complete the hearing until the end of
the ninety days. Before those ninety days had arrived,
the captain had succeeded in poisoning the community
here to the point where there could not be a hearing.

They Jjuat put me in limbo until they had a chance to
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2011410y thelr position with false ianformation and
this is why they could never give me a hearing in front
of the Muslim and haye nol given me cne to this date,

Q I go back again after all of that to the
point that there was pome reply that you were suspended
a8 & result, Jow, you say afuer the Honorable Elijah
Muhammad wmakes his decision, is this then that the
body passes on?

A No. See, by law, any court 1s not a case
of the Honorable Elijah Muhammad making the decision,
He never makes a decision,

Q From the preliminary hearing?

A Any kind of a decision, whether it pertains
to a minister, captain or anyone other than bringing
that person in front of the body so that the person
will get Justice if anybody in the body that can speak

for him and against hiam,

Q The man in Washington, did he go before

the Honorable Elijah Muhammad?
A Yes, he did.
Q He had a hearing, didn't he?
Yes, he had a hearing.
Before the Honorable Elijah Muhammad?

Yes.
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Q Toe men in Philadelphia, @ié he have @ hearing?
A Not in front--I don't know whether he went
in front of the Honorable Elijah Muhammad, but--
Q You den't kaow too much about it?
A I & Kniow., They found him guiliy--found the
minister gullty--the Muslim found him guilty and still

didn't remove him,. He was guilty and so0 they had to

have another court hearing about a week laber and they
found him guilty and officially wouldn't remove him
wntil the officials themselves announced his removal.

Q Isn't 1t a faet that the Homorable Elljah
Muhammad can remove any winister he wants to?

A Yes.

< All right. He need give you no reason %o
remove you. He Just says you are no longer the
minigter of this mosgue and that's it, is that right?

A Because he iz a divine man,

Q Isu't that correct?

A And because he is a religious man,

Q Angwer wy guestion.

A I'm answering your question., Because he
48 a divine man and because he says he is a religious

man . He always follows the divine religious procedure.

He 1s a stickler, what you call a stickler or at least
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he was for procedure and he never-~he has always--

3 As an expert--

k. SUTTON: Let him finish, MHay
I object to the interruption?

A (eontinuing) It hae always been his poliay
never to handle & person in any my that a person could
sccuse him of an injustice.

Q 8ir, 1 go back to my original question and I
82y %o you, ien't it & faot that the Honorable Elijah
Muhammad removes ministers with or without cause and
that hae been the custom mince this movement started?

A The Honorsble Llijah Muhammad has never
Pewoved a minist without cause.

Q If he foels that a winister is better in
one place than another, wouldn®t he remove him and
put him there?

A That's cause.

Is that your cause?
20 You have o have a cause.
21 : Is that what you wean by a cause?
22 A Yas, You have %o have a cause,
23 Q ¥You haven't had a hearing and you have been

24 @esperatsly trying to get a hearing?

25 MR, SUTTON: He $ldn't say "desperately.”
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He Just tried.
Tried to get & hearing a number of times?
Yes.

Have you ever filed a petition in the

Supreme Court of the State of New York setting forth

the same matters you set forth that you were illegally

removed from your position as a minister of this

temple?

Q

religious

Yes or no.
MR. SUTTON: Objection, There

has been no testimony that he was removed.
I don't know what he's talking about.
THE COURT: Refreme your question,
MR, WILLIAMSS A1l right.

Have you ever brought any action under the

corporation law questioning your suspension

or alleged removal or put out out, as you testified,

the Nation of Islam or removal from your position as

minister?

MR. SUTTOHN: ObJjection, There
is no testimony by him that he has been
removed,

THE COURT: Overruled. Proceed.
He gave him the alternative,

I am still seeking a hearing.
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] Inswer my gquestlion, sir,

THE COURT: Have you filed a
petition he asked you, in Supreme Court or
any other court? He's asking you that
prizmerily.

THE WITNESS: No, sir,

You know this avenue is available to you?

MR, SUTTON: ObJection,

THE COURT: Overruled,

A Mo, I don't know that avenue is available
%0 me, I'm glad you inforwed me.

Q Have you been in toush with lawyers over the
period of the last twe or three months; as & matter of

faet, as far back as in December?

A When you say "in touch,” what kind of lawyers?

Dealing with what?

Q I will withdraw that question then. Did you
see 8 lawyer--your lawyer is available--did you go to
see him with respect to your rights? Your rights
were affected; were they not?

MR, SUTTON: Juat a moment. This
impinges on the right of man %o seek counsel
and confidential relationship. There is no

harm or disgrace, JMay I object to the
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auestion hecause I'n the attormey involved
and I will now have to take the witness stand.

THE COURTt He asked him if he con-
sulted an attorney.

MR, SUTTON: I wish you would
specify.

MR, WILLIAMS: All right.

Q When this suspension without cause was taken,
qld you ever seek any legal remedy to restore you to
your position?

A I sried to keep it private. I tried to keep
it out of the court and I tried to keep it out of the
public and I asked them for a hearing in private so
shat 1t would never come out to the public and because
there were faots that I thought would be distructive
to the Muslim movement which I felt shouldn't be made

public.

Q You are making it public now,

A Yen, only because they have driven me %o
the point where I have to tell 1t in order to protect
myself but I have been trying to keep it quiet.

Q Isntt it a fact that you have organized
andther mosque?

A 1 organized Mosque Number 14, I organized--
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Q Answer wy question,

A I have organized another mosque.

Q I'm talking about a mosque that does not
belong to the Honorable Elijah Muhammad.

A I organized the Munlim Mosgue, Ircovrporated.
As I stated; during the period of my suspension while
I was out, I was going to try and continus to spread
the Honorable Elijah Mohsmuwad's tesehing among the

22,000,000 non-Muslims and thatis oy etatement that

I organized the mosque for that purpose.

Q Did you organize another mosque in Now York?

A Yon.

Q Some of the members of that mosque were
formerly mombers of the Muhammd's Tomple of Islam, Inc.,
are they?

A Some. of them?

Q Yes,

Some of them are.
A _good majJority?
Scme of them., I don't know about the majority.
How many members do you have?
1 have no idea. I have been traveling,
Q You have been traveling. You say now that

2ll during this period you were still--you were working
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while you were under suspension?
A I don't understand you.

] You say you were traveling around propagating
while you were under suspension?

MR, SUTTON: I don't think he said
he was traveling around propagating.

THE COURT: That wasn't the way
you mean it. He was trying to do what he
thought was his duty.

A ¥hen I said “traveling;" I went vo Mecea,
That's in Africa,.

MR, WILLIAMS: Withdrawn.

Q The guestion that I want to put to you is

thist Did you not have a press conference in March--

around March 10th of 1964 whersin you stated that you

ne longer were affiliated with the New York Muslim?
A I stated thate-

Answer yes or no.

Just 2 moment,

Pid you have the conference, first?

I had a press conference.

Bow, at that press conference, did you make
this statoment-—

MR, WILLIAMS: Mr. Sutton, I gquote
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feom She Hew York Tiwes.

MR. SUTTON: Is that over Mr, Maleolm
Xts byline?

MR, WILLIAMS: No,

MR, SUTICN: You are quoting from
the New York Times?

MR, WILLIAMS: I am telling you
where I got it from.

Q "I reached the gonclusion that I can best
spread the Honorable Eli jah Mubhammiad's message by
staying out of the Nation of Islam.”

Did you make that statement?

A That®s out of context.

Q Did you make the stabement?

A It's out of context. What else is with i%,

I don't know.
Q I'm asicing you a question,
A I don't kmow if I made that unless you give
me the entire statement.
Q All right. Did you make & statement, sir,
that you were removing yourself from the Nation of Islam?
A No.
< You didn't meke that statement?

A I @on't think so.
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You dontt think so?
No.
Could you have made that statement?
MR. BUTTON: Objection as to what
he could have.
THE COURT: Bustalned,
Show him the document. Mark it

for identfication first.

MR, WILLIAMS: Will you mark that

landlomd's Exhibit 6 for identification?

MR, SUTTON: May I ask Shat be
identified firss. Is that a newspaper
article that he is to bs questioned on?

THE COURT: He can mark a horse's
tail if he wants to for identification.

MR. SUTTONs I want it for the
record that thia is a newspaper article
that he has.

THE COURTS Heo doesn't have to
tell you what he wants marked for identifi~
cation. As he goes along you will find out.

MRe WILLIAMS: On this om separately.

THE COURT: He doesn't have to

show it to you if he doesn't want to.
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R, WILLIAMS Could I have a
short adjournment for about five minutes
0 let the witness read these?
THE COURTs Yes.
{Whersupon; a short recess wag btaken.)
THE COURT: All right. Proceed.
CROSS EXAMINATION (continued)
BY MR, WILLIAMS:
Q Sir, d1d you have an oppertunity to refresh
your recollection $o read Iandlord's Exhibits 6 and
T for identification which 1 am now asking the reporter
to s0 mark?
A Yo, sir.
(Landlord's Exhibits 6 and 7
marked for identification,)
Q Now, 1 ask you again whether or not you

stated at this press conference that you had around

March of 196% that you were leaving the Nation of Islam?

A That sarticle does not stem from & press con-
ference.
Q )id you make that statement, sir?
A
You never mede this statement?

No, not in those words.
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Q Then this 1s a wisquote?
A Let me take 1t and I will show you in the
article there is an explanation,
Q Is this a misquote?
A It's out of contaxt,

) Are these the words that were quoted what I

MR. SUTTON: I object. It's not

in evidence any quotes.

THE COURT: Proceed,

Q This "I have reached the conclusion that I
can best spread the Honorable Elijah Muhammad's message
by staying out of the Nation of Islam and continuing
to work on my own among Americans,” did you make that
gtatement?

A The exact words I made were--

I'm asking, did you make that statement?

L.t me see 1t.

It's quoted there.

This means, sir, that I remained under sus-
pension.

Q Did you make that statement? That's all

I'm concerned with, that quote.

A This was a press conference, I'm sorry. Yes,
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I made that statement, I made this.

MR, WILLIAMS: No further gquestions.

MR, SUTTON: Just a moment.

THE WITNESS: This is from & news~
paper; sir.

THE COURT: He's entitled to his
answer., He got his anawer.

MR. SUTTON: He has & right to the
explanation. May I objeet to the witness
not being allowed to complete--to give an
explanation. He is not deprived of the
right to give it on direct examination, I
don't have to wait untll cross examination
to do it.

THE COURT: I disagree with you,
80 take your objection and go ahead with it,

You may make & note to take care
of it on redirect examination,

Proceed.

CROSS EXAMINATION (continued)

BY MR. WILLIANS:
Q On April 3rd you were quoted as saying in
the New York Times by Junior Griffin, "I am taking

my cue from those methods used by Billy Graham to
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2 presch the Gospel of Christ. 1 am preaching vhe

3 gospel of Black Nationalism to negroes without

4 asking them to join my organization but rather asking

5 them to go out and Join any existing oivil rights

6 organization.

7 MR, SUTTON: Just a moment. I

8 object on the ground it's not relevant to
the 1ssue here.

Are we going to go through all the
guotss that Minister Maleolm X made or arve
we going to require ourselves to stay
within relevant quotes?

MR, WILLIAMS: I will connect

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: Give me that.
Q Yes.

A If I am not out of order, this is by Junior
@riffin of the New York Times. He was not even present
whon this stawment was supposed to have been made.

Q Did you make that stavement I bave read, the
quoted statement?

A Which one?

Q Listen carefully. "I am taking my cue from
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those methods used by Biily Graham to preach the
Gospel of Christ, I am preaching the gospel of
Black Nationalism to negroes without asking them to

Join my organization but rather asking them to go out

and Join any existing oivil rights organization.”

MR, SUTTON: I object on the grounds,
that, one, 1t's not relevant, and, two, no
date is set for it. To whom 1t was said is
not stated and I object.

THE COURT: Objection overruled,

Procead.

Did you make that statement, yes or no?
I am not geing t0 answer you yes or no. H.w
can I angwer yes or no--

THE COURT: That's something else.
Buofore you answered yes. I stopped you.

If you say you can't answer yea or no, I

will give you leeway to answer it your way.
THE WITNESS: I can't answer it yes

THE COURT: Wnat date is that news-

MR, WILLIAMS: April 3rd. I vead

it into the record. April 3»d and the
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byline of Junior Griffin,
THE COURT: 1 want the date for

Mr. Sutton's edification.

MR, SUTTON: Yes. X object. 1it's

not relevant to the issues here,
THE COURT: ¥e are not concerned
about that. 1 want you to have the date.
Froceed.
THE WITNESS: Ask me the guestion.
Did you make that statement that was quoted?
Let me see it? Which statement?
Right here.
Not in shis forme.
Not in that form?
No, not in that form,
But you mwade a similar statement to this?
He changed the idea complobely in Lthat case,
Then you are saying that QGriffin misquoted you?
He was not even there.
You were misquoted here?
He was not there.
8ir, are you misquoted here?
Yes.

Thank you.
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A By misquote, if I may explain. The quote
is incomplete. it conveys an idea that is--it's
1imited or was not designed Lo project he idea that
I had in mind,

Q Mr. Maleol are quibkbling.

MR, SULTON: Juat a moment. Dea't
argue with the witness, *we are quihbl.‘.ng."

Ask him the question.

I you have any Obe
Jectlon, make it to me.

Hite SUTTON: Of course,

You are

middle,

nim right in &

K, EUTTCN: 1 sort of have Lo,

Q@ is it your L& iy that you said the words

14 thar this, 1s

that were quoted ré but youm

that correct?

A Thatis not cowrreat. 1 sald that's incorrecis

words have be

iy quobed.
arranged.

[ Were these words used? Did you say those

words shat i vead .o you?

A In that struct

Q 1 mean, did you say those words that I read?




Little « cross
Did you may thas?
A 8ir, I had given an hour's talk before
Presbyterian ministers in Brooklyn--

Q Excuse me, sir. Y.u saide-

3 nuring that hour's talk I said many thinga

and probably those words in one part or another was
in some of the sentences and parvagraphs that I used.

Q Did you ever see thls article before?

A Yes.

Q Did you ever say or write a letter to the
Times that you were misquoted?

A I'n misquoted in 8o many papers that it would
take all my time Go answer thelr misquotes.

THE COURTs Your answer is no, I
take 1u?
THE WITNESS: That's right,

Q Now, when you say your own organizagion--join-
ing your organization, that's another organization you
are speaking of ?

MR SUTTON: Just a poment, I don't
believe I heard him testify to that.

MR, WILLIAMS: Withdrawn and move
on to something else.

Q ¥hen you were suspended, weren't you told the
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reason why you were sugponded?
A Yes or no?
Ye8 Or no.
Wnich suspension?
Woll~-
There was--
Q Suspension of the Honorable Elijah Muhammad?
A ‘There were three suspensions., One was made
public,
ne when you were suspended by
jah Muhammad?
e wap made public.
lat's go to the first one, the first
siwe by the Honorable Elijah Muhammad,
suspended you threc specific times?
in par%, the suspension.
garing in part, now
this in part.

Just a moment, 1 ob-

Yebe That's moxe like
Tuis is like a Perry Mason casa,

englon involved three sbages or

three 2 The £1 ne wag made public, It wae
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made known internationally by the press out of Chieago.
There was another part of that same suspension that was
made known only to the Muslims and there was another
Part of that that was made known only to me and the
nrational offielals and this part of this suspension was
supposed to gome out at the time I was glven 2 hearing.
They didn't wanst it to come out so they wouldn't give
me a hearing in front of the Muslims.

3 W 1 am golng back %o the time when you were
suspended whether it was first, second or third. You
were told a reason were you not or you were given some

reasons.

Q Isn't 1t a fact that you were suspended be-
cause the Honorable Elijah Muhammad said you should not
make political statements as a religious group?

A 8ir?

Q That you made a political statement and he

felt you shouldn't make one as 2 political group.

A No.
Q Waen't there a directive that you should not
make political statements that went out o all ministers?
MR. SUTTON: I object. I think we

are getting into things not before the court.
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THE COURT: This is cross examination,
MR, SUTTONs I; opens the avenue to

a number of things,
THE COURT: Let him open it.
M, WILLIAMS: I'm going to open it.
THE COURT: Proceed,
THE WITNESS: What 1s your question?
MR. WILLIANMS: Pleage read the last

question, WMr, Heporter.

(The question was read.)

A He called me on the telephone, There was no
directive, The instruction that 1 got came from him
personally ever the telephone in regard to a certain
situation.

Q But didn't all the ministry receive instructions
that they not comment on certain events?

A Yes.

MR, SUDPTONs ObJjection.
THE COURT: Overruled,
And you commented, is that correct?
Yea,
That resulted in your suspension?
Neo, mo, it did net.

You broke the rule?
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Ho,
You violated the directive, is that correcs?

The Honorable Elijah Muhammad told me himself

that he would have made the statement that I made, that

he had the same feelings that I expressaed.

Q

A

A

But yet he suspended you for 1i:?
He d1d not puspend me for that.
He publicly said he suspended you for 1%,
Yeu,
But he suspended you for something private?
Yes, he suspended me for something private.
Let's move Lo--
Very private,

MR, SUTEON: Just a moment.

{econtinuing) 1 am answering your question,

The suspension-~I think it was on the 3ré of December

that the suspension was announced supposedly attached

to a statement that I had made on the lst of December.

The reason for my suspension was not the statement that

1 made concerning that situation.

)
A
Q

eorvecy?

Did you receive a letter suspending you?

No.

You only got it on the telephone, is that
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A Bo, I went to Chicago.

< And he told you personally why you were being

suspended?

A He t0ld me that because of the ¢limate of

the gountry and the statement that had been made.

Q By whom?

A By wo, 1% would be better for me to remain

silent for ninety days.

me

21
22
23
24 gy

25

Q That's your suspension?
A Yes. He told me that it would be better for
© remain silent for ninety days.
THE COURT: Is this a political
statenent that you made?
THE WITHESS: Yes,
it COURT: Affecting what?
S WITNESS: You mean what did it
persain

COURTs Demoerat or Republican

WITNESS: Both.

THE COURY: Qo ahcad.

] You have testified that you spoke all around

country and you received fees for this, is that

coreect?
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Ho fees. I never received a fee.

For speaking you never received a fee?

No.

They paid it to the mosque?

Hos Whenever any group before whem I
spoke or before which I spoke had anything that they
wanted to give, I told them they would only accept
a contribution to the mosque.

Q That was the losal mosgue?
Sometime it was the local mosque and sometime
the national mosque.
Winat nappens to these monies that were given
logal mosqua?
A They go to Chicago.
Q Did you ever have these checks cashed and
given to you?
A Only &
Answer yés Or no.
1 will answer with an explanation.
Answer it yes or no firvet.
Ho.
All right.

8ir, every guestion, can 1 ansy

THE COURT: If you say no, that's it.
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That's the end.

THE WITNESS: It's yes or no and
I would like to explain,
Yes and no?

T He may answer 1%,

A If I went %o at Harvard and it would

cost me, say, $100 or $90 or something like that, what-

ever the expense wag, if they'd give it to me, it would
appear as income wherein aetually 1o would be mpney
that I was receiving for that which I had already taken
out of my pocket, so whatever place before whom or
before which I spoke or at which X spoke, I asked them
always to make a contyribution to the mosgue. Whateyer
amount of money that I had spent in the form of expenses
after that che¢k was cashed, I asked the secretary to
give mwe back that which I had spent.

% Now, the cheek that these people gave you,
was that expense money or fees? What was 1t?

A Contributions to the wWosSquUo.

Q ¥ag thet for your speaking?

A In some cases it would be, It was 8 con-
teibution to the mosqua.

Q Which mosque?

A Huwnh ~whatever it is, number 7 mosque or
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the Chicago wosque.
Q Dié you make 3 record of those centributions
when you turned them in?
A How do you mean?
Q Did you get a for them?
A I turned them over L0 the seoretary., They
never camg to me.
Q The monies never came to you?
A
Q at Harvard for Mosque 184, didn'y
you get a
shem because-—
Minister Thomas X?
in ny na
and had 1% made
the mosque?
Yes,
You cashed the check and took tha cash?
¥No.
You never got money from @ winisgter?
No.
Let me--

Just a moment. All you have to find out is

the amount of the check that was given and you will
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fee that 1t cost mo more %0 zo to Harvard and baclk,

Q ¥Was the check that was made out %o the

mosque, was that not cashed and the sash given to you?

a Ho. Walt a minute, sir.

Q Didn't you-~

A ¥Wait a minute, I don't vant 50 put--to be
put in a position of glving you the wrong anawer,
Yhen you say the chock was made out, which one are you

talking about?
] You sald they sent you two checks, The

first one was made cut in your name which you pent
back, not to them, dut to the minister.

A

Q Was 1t made out in the nasme of Mosque 147

A Ko, Mosque 7, if my memory serves me correot.
I'm not sure but I think it was made out to Mosque 7
becauge it was my policy always Lo have my contribue
tions that were made for pergonal appearances that
I made to be turned over to the mosqua.

Q Waan't Thomae J. X the minlster of that
nosque?

A Which mosque?

Q 14,

Yen.
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Q Didntt you give the sheek to him to cash?

A Yo, sir. If my memory serves me--walt a
minute, If I know wmy procedurae--

) I'm not talking about your procedure, When
you got that second check, d4id you give it te Mlalster
Thomas J. X to cash it?

MR, SUTTON: I'm objecting, The
witnose was about to respond. He was con~

tinuing his answer when he was interrupted.

THE COURT: Proceed.
A (continuing) BSee, sir, with all due respect

to the court and everybody else, you are dealing with
8 btime, a year ago at least and this is something that
happened with me every single day. For me to remember
the intricate details of what took place on a certain
day between me and a remote individual, I can't give
you the exact date but to my imowledge--
THE COURT: Mr, Witness, nobody
is asking you to remember. If you don't
remembor, Say 80.
THE WITNESS: I don't remember,
Thank you, Judge.
Q When you spoke to the Ford Hall Forum--you

remember that?
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Foxrd? Yen,

You got a check there, did you not?

A If I a1¢, 1t was--1f my memory serves me
correct, it was made out to the mosgue.

Q Pid pou cash Shat check?

A 1 have never cashed a check,

Q Did you have anybody cash that cheok?

A Not have them cash it for me. All checks
I received I turned over to the secretary of the
mOBGLE .

Q You are saying that you received none of
these monics yourself?

2 That's right.

2] You received no salary? All this money you

got, this minimum amount of $150 you got each week

was used for your travel around, is that correct?

A Not only that. I had access to unlimited

I'm balking about the $150,
I had access to unlimited funds.

You had to put in a requisiton to approve

A No, all I had to do was ask the Honorable

Elijah Muhammad for any weunt I wanted.
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Q It talking about losalldy.
A Also locally.
Q Did you ever have to veprify what you were
going to do with 1t?
& Somatimes yeu and pometimes no,
Q If 1t was over $150 you had to verify what

you had to do with 1%?
A Ho. As they testified yesterday, the min-

ister was in complete authorisy and got the directives
from the Honorable Elijah Muhammed.

Q Yes, sir. 8o, therefore, if you say the
minister was in complete authority and got all of his
directives from the Honorable Elljah Muheemad, do you
know of any particular case where a local mosque had
passed on the removal of a minister?

A The locale-yes.

& Where was Shis?

A Philadelphia. The minister--

Q@ Was this at a meeting?

A it was a trial., Charges were brought in
front of him and whenover & charge is brought againat
any Musliim that Muslim must be brought before the
body, so charges were brought before the minister in

Pailadelphia Just two months agoe while all of this
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stuff was going on about mo and he wes given & hear-
ing, He was found guilty snd still Chicage wouldn't
remove him because he knew too much #0 they had te
glve him another hearing and Chicage still wouldn't
romove him until the Muslime Shomselves demanded hls
removal.

Q Isnts it also a rfact that svery mosque you
€9 o, that the mosque themsell takes care of your
expensen?

A o In some cases yes and some cmEes no.

Q But usually, isn'i chat so?

A loe I can name the ones that 40 and the
onas thak don't and the ones that don't number more
thane-

Q 1 want Lo ask--

A (contlnuing) -+ The number that don't and
the number that didnit and the number that couldn't

were far greater than those that coulds This is why

I hed to tvavel to those mosques all the time, They

stayed in financial diatresa. They didn't know how
to organize Ghelr finances.

Q Did you glve this money to these mosques?
You paid they were financialliy in distress.

A I went %o help them organise their business
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procedures which were very slack as testimony in this
trial has already pointed out.

Q Do you think this mosque here that you
headed from 1952 had good fimancial procedures from
the testimony you heard here today?

A it was the mest economically sound.

9@ That's not the question.

A it was only one of the temples that 1s in
the black. The rest were in the red.

Q Was it good?

A 1 founded the procedure that the Honorable
Elijah Muhammad gave we in everything Idids I
followed the procedure, the instructions, the orders

of she Honorable Blijah Muhammad.

Q All righte Dié you ever make any records,

gir, of these monies that you received on these speak-
ing engagements that you gave back to the mosque?

A No, I @idn'% have to.

Q Was any record made in the temple of them?

A You would have to ask the seeretary, 1
don't know.

THE GOURTS - Will youw be muoh
longer with this witness?

MR, WILLIAMS: Not much longer.
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Q liow, when payments sre made into the EoBgus ,
isn't 1t a fact that & written record is kept of each
payment that is made and all monies that are received?
Is that the procedure?
A I don'y quite widerscand you, aie,

"] If a baliever would come in and bring sowme

money, isn't it a fact that a record was kept of every

dime that weny in?

A Yes,

You insisted upon that, d¢idn't you?
Yes,

Q When these other monles that wore supposed
Lo eome in and you gave them te the Sesretary, did you
insist that he make a record of those monies, too?

A How de you meant

Q You sald that you spoke around the country
almost daily and received these checks Bhat you brought
back %0 the mosque, 1a thas gorreat?

A Yes,

Q Yet you say that there was no record from
1952 down to the bime Jou were suspended as to any of
these wmonies, ig that correct?

A I d4idn's say that.

Q Well, are there records of bhese monies you




Little - cross
recalved?
A The secretary keeps records, I immgine, of
everything he reseives. I wasn't the secretary.
Q You said previously that you ran this mosquej
you knek everything Hhat was going on, didn's you?

A I thought 1 did. I thought I did.
Q Did you know anything about the financislee
A I now know there was much going on that I
didn't know,
Q Answer me about the financial structures.
Did you know the finaneial structure?
A You,
% You saw the records, toe, didn't you?
¥hen you say I saw theme~
You made 2 statement here--
MR, SUTTON: Just a moment, ObjJection,
He was about to explain,
THE COURT: Did you finish?
THE WITNESS: No, I don't think so,.
21 Pid I have a minube knowledge of the exact
22 state of every aspect of the economy in the
23 financial transactions of the mosque?

24 Q No, I didngt mean that, I mean, that these

25 ghecks and so forth Jou didn't keep any track; these
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ware the fraits of your l=bor?
A The entire income of the mesque was the
fmuilt of wmy labor,
The entire?
Yes,
Were there donations and contributions?
Be
Ave you the entire mosque?
No, X am no%.

Weren't there other believers who donated
to the house? Didn't they donate to that?

A ¥hen I say I was the entive economy income
of the wosque, was due to my labor, I'm going back to
the statement where I sald it was the only mesque that
was in the black, it was the oniy mosque that had made
any progress economically. All of the others were in
the red including the headquarters mosgue at number 2.
That stayed in the red.

Q Now, sir, when this house was being purchased,
you were not even around when they met %o buy this
house. When they had the first discussion in the

mosque about the house you weren't around, were you?

You were out of town, is that not a faect?

A 1 stayed out of town most of the time but
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when the purchage of the house was being discussed,
paturally it had to be brought to my attention,

< After you came back, is that correct?

A ¥ith an explanation.

Q Answer yes OF nos - After you came baock they
teold you they had agreed G0 buy &8 house, is that
correct?

A I had alwayse~

1s that correct or not?

Only with an explanation can I say yes Or no.

Say yes or no with an explanation.

Yes, with an explanation. I never sought
t0 gain anything personally from the Nation of Islam.
This is why I lived in a room and then lived in three
rooms .

Q And the believers while you were away said
that you should have better quarters, ien't that a
fact?

A They had been saying that for about three
yearg--about two years and I had gotten married and

had & child and that it was not gosd for me to live

where I had been living and since I was working so

hard they insisted thet & house be purchased for me.

This idea was pr ted to the H le Elijah
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Fahameyed .
By whon?
By we and by them. All of us,
A1l of 'you together?
Kot all togethar,
By lattexr?
Yes, and in porson,
¥ho wrote the letter?
I imagine some of the officials.
You wewre the head?
I didn't have to read to him because I saw
him perdodisally,
Q But you conveyed this idea, is that correat?
A I told the Honorable Elijah Muhammad that
the Muslims in New York wanted to buy me & house, He
felt they should but dealt--he transscted the business
through the then pearetarxy at that time.

Q Now, zir, % me get back to the house, Y u

sald when the bellevers agreed to buy the house you

came back, is that corwvect?
A They wanted to surprise me with a gift,
Q S0 you dldn't dmow anything about 1t?
Yen, I dia.

They were néb sursprising you with a gifs?
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A Yes,

Q You knew all that was going on?

A I had an idea of what was going on, yes, be-
cause, sir, they had been trying 211 of the time Lo get
me & house.

Q For the minister to live in?

A No, not for the minister to live in, They
wore trying to get me @ houss because of the work I
was doing.

Q You were trustee, were you notf

A Yas.

Q They were buying you this house for & gift,
is that correct?

They were buying the house for me,
As a gift, right?

I don't know whether you would word it as a

This was to be yours?

Yes.

And they were uging the monles from the mosque

to do thia?
A The group of Muslims gob together and maised
sufficient funds for a down payment on & house.

Q This house from the very inception was known
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throughout the wosque as baing owred by the tewple,
is that correct?

A The Honorable Eli jah Muhstm

Ip thet correst?
In the Muslim movement, as you
@ the testiwony of your witnesses,
onoreble Z14 jah Muhammad gave ordersj directives,
Q Ara you saying that the Honoradle Elijah
Muhammad diveeted this houss §0 be purcnased?

a Honorehle D14 jah Muhamsad gave orders through
me, The Honorable E1ljah Mubamuad cousented for the
purchase of the house, He 0. kK.'@ the purchase of
the house. The Honovrable Elijah Muhammad gave orders

congeming the house through me, The Honorable Elijah

Mukammad himself C p that the house was mine,

that 1t wes o be

“ Now, sir, then this was not an official act
of the body?

A The witnesses yesterday satide-

8§ I'm asking you, sirt ¥qog this an officlal
act of the corperation?

A I don't imow,

MR, WILLIAMS: No further questions.
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THE COURTS How long will you bef
I'm not limiting you.

MR, SUTTOMN: lot long.

THE COURT: We will take a recess.

(¥mereupon, a short recess wag taken,)

THE COURT: All right. Proceed,
MALCOLMN X LITTLE, resuned
the stand.
HEDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR, SUTTONs
Q The question was Just asked of you was this
glving over of the house to you an official act of
the corparation. Now, wus this an offielal mat of

the corporation?
A He, sir, 7o uy knowledge the corporation

never met (o perform any official act.

4 Since the date the corporeation was organigsed,
during the entire time you were brustee, did the
corporation ever hold a corporate meeting?

A No, sir, not one time. I had followed the
Honorable Elijah Muhammad's ingtructions to have it
ingcorporated for tax purposes but we never did funotion
as a corporation and never held meetings--corporate

meatings.




Ligtle - redirect
the wagep come from gorperate funds?

It came from the spiritual body from the

Were there monles that came in for the
purpose of purchasing that house outside of the Maslim
novement?

A I don't know,

Al) right, Pid the corporation ever have

account?

Fog~w

At that

Not ab

eorporation ever hold a meeting for
the purpoge of purchasing a house?
A ! ir, never did.
Did they hold any meetings?

No, sir,

Wag there money set aslde, not even in a

bank in the corporate name of Muhammad's Temple of Islam,
Ine, and the corporate name?
A There was never any money set aside for
the purchasing of this in ths corporate name,
24 e Was there ever any money set aside in the

25 gorporate name?
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I3 ¥s, #ir, act at that tima.
< Since the date of your suspension and to
the present, has a hearing bedn held for removing you
as is the practice, custom and procedure of the faith?
& Na, nir, My saspensioca, as X said, was in
1 jah
wad Lold me that I would get a heardng at the end
of ninety days and the hearing was to be based wpon
gome informalion that had been rapeorted to him by
aptaln Jaseph, I had %old him and the secretary and
the sdzister in Boston that the Honorable Elijah
Muhammad had talen on nine wives besides the one that
he hed,
MR, WILLIAMSs I objeet and move
that be
I'm not seking that.
This 1s the reason
for wy suspension.
Q i'm not asking that, What I want to inow is--
I'm sorry; I probably phrased it improperly--from the

time of youy suspension until the present, sir, has

there been any btermmination of your employment by a

hearing as 1s provided in the cuatoms, practices and

progedures of the Nation of Islam?




Little - redirect 202
A This bearing was to haves-wns supposed to
have taken place at the end of February and I wrote to

the H ble E14jJah d and asked him for the

hearing but they were afrald 40 bring me before the
Muslin body for fepr of whet I would tell them.
MR, WILLIRMS: I wove it be stricken.
THE COURT: Overruled, I don't
s9e the bearing yet.

Q From the time of your suspension until this
procedure was started in March, the question was asked
of you whebher during that time you consulted with any
attorney to find out why you were not getting a hear-
ings Did you hear the question asked of you by Mr.

Williams?

A Yes, At that point, the Honorable Eli jah

Muhamand was ny atitorney, I wrote to him and I asked
him for a hearing Lmmediately because I knew he was
the one that knew that the house was mine. He knew
i, It was an agreement detween him and me,

THE COURT: Iz he a member of the

THE WITNESS: He is in the Muslim
bar, in the Nation of lalam.

THE COURT: Is he licensed vo
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practice law?
THE WITNESS: Not in the legal
structure of the state,
THE COURT: Proceed, sir.
143 New, B8ir, 8¢ thak from the time that you
were suspended until the time these procedures were
brought, were you still of the belief that you would
have your hearing?
A Yoo,
*] Did you have any doubt until this procedure
was brought that you would have a hearing?

A t0 the time that that procedure was

brought I zbaclutely felt that the Honl ble Elijah

Muhammad out of a sense of Justice would see that I
was brought befove the Muslims and given a hearing.
I requested that of him,

Q Over and apart from ministers, what is the
custom, practice and prosedure within the Nation of
Islam for the removal of & bwother or sister from
the faith?

MR, WILLIANS: Objeaticn. There
is only a minister involved.
THE COURTs Yea. I nok

renlly concorned, If you want to go
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aheade~
Q Even a member, must he have the opportunity
of confrontation before he can be removed?
A No Muslim can be charged by a lone individual
without four wilnesses and po-Muslia. is evsr charged
with anything without glving--without peing glven an

opportunity to defend himself.

Q Hot “charged,” you wean removed.

MR, WILLIAMS: Just a second. He
mdée & statoment, I object to Mr, Sutton
teasbifying.

THE COURT: It's harmless.

Q Did you say he is never charged without an
epportunity to defend himself?
A That's right. He cannot be removed without

charges being placed,
> ¥hat is the procedure for that?

A Our law 13 that when charges are leveled
against a brother or sister, that brother or sister
L8 brought bsfore the Muslim body and these charges
are stated and then that person who is being accused
is given an opportunity te defend himself, In any
case I wap susponded and my mouth was closed 8o that

I eouldn't talk, Then they poisoned the Muslim body




Little - redirect

$0 kasp wet frope-t0 keep them fion demanding that I
get a hearing, That's all. That's what I fought
against. I said I would have kept the whole thing
secret and private if they would give mwe & hearing.
They would rether teke the publiec court than keep

it private among the Muslims simply because I vold
Jogeph that the Honoreble Elijah Muhammsd had taken

on nine wives,

W Mr. Willlems asked the gquestion, sir,
about yowr seeking counsel. Wowm, I ask you, sir,
even now, even though you say the house does not
belong to them, would you remove from the house if
you had your hearing?

A All I asked--yes, if I was given a hearing
in front of the Musliime as 15 owr law and custom,
they would have no trouble out of me whatsoever,

MR, SUTTON: No further questions.
RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR, WILLIAMS:

Q Now, sir, you made a statement. Do you
have proof of the charges of these so-called nine
wives you have talited about?

THE COURT: What he is saying is

that oma 18 Yoo many., I8 that true?
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THE WITHESS: I dontt lowow,
Do you have proof of that?
THE COURT: Let's not go into shat.
MR, WILLIAMS: He raised it.
THE Ty S0 ahead 1f you want,
A All you have to do is ask the Honorable
Elijah Muhsmawd and see if he denies it,
Q I would like--
A fice 10 he can plve yom a yes o 1o angwer.
MRe WILLIANMS: Mark this Landlord's
Exhibit for identification,
(Document marked Landlord's
Exhibit 8 for identification,)
e Look at this paper and tell me whether or
ROt you have meen that ything similar to that be-
fore, Have you,
o SUTTON:  May I object 5o "have
Been that or anything similar to that"?
THE COURT: Just refer to it by

BURDeT.

Exhibit number 8 for identirication.

THE COURT: What is your snswer?
THE % NESSs I'm looking, if I may,

THE COUR Yes.
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A I san®t say for cersin but I thiak X have.
Q This is 2 report of what?
A It says the report on purchase of ministry
home as of January something or other,
Q How, this reporte-you have seen thls meport,
have you not?
BUTTON: He Just statede-
WITNESS: ‘Vapit a minute.
WILLIAMS: I your Henor 3
¥ie SUTTON: CbJeation,
THE COURTY Overruled.
You have seen this?
¥hat's the date on this?
ds of January 15th gives & report.
January 15th?
1960,
That's four years ago.
. i'n asking you a guestion, You were in
charge of the religious society and the president of

the religious corporation, were you not?

22 A Yen.

23 Q Was not this report made to you as to the
24 purchase of this home?

25 A Not as the president of the corporation,




Little - recross
réeligious #9¢
£z the minister in charge of the spiritual

body but 1% was never presented to meas an of ficer of

the corporation because we had no meetings of the

officers or trustees of the esrporation,
Q Eut it was presented to you as the leader
of the spiritual body?
A Yes, if I rewmember correctly,
Nay X woe £6?
MR. WILLIAME:
SUFTONs May I object?
ot every item which relates remotely
issible in
admigsion
body. Is
purpose.

COUl Well, Wr. Sutton, since
there 1s no Jwy here, I'm both the court
and Jury. I will take it and evaluate 1t
properiy.

HR. SUTTON: Thank you.
THE COURT: let it be marked.
(Landlordts

identification marked Lindiord's
Exhibit 8 La evidence.)




Littls - reoross

ow, Bir, this report was mede o ybu as

ou,
the head of the spiritual body?

A 1 said if my memory serves me correct. It

doespn't have (o be a paper that I have seen<~

e §lnilar to Ghis, a pert was wade to

you concerning this information, It says the

Jbjeation. The paper

He wants to question

on's go into it too extensively,

2 deed entitled at the top "Report

of

entivled,

o Temple was completed Friday,

by is now recorded in the Towple's name

insured,”

That report was made to you, is that correct,

this report?

A If my mewory serves me corvect, the Honorable

A I

Elijah Muhammnd suggested that it be put in ny name
because it was to be my house,

Q I'm taiking about this house.




210

explanavion.

. the question

it

ght, : leave 1. 1 you ever

ok jecs t he fack thut the houss ses ia the Temple's

name after you this report?
The Honowvable Elijah Muhammad was the on
who objected. He objected Lo me.
Hd you object,
To what?
To the house being in the ne
No, sir. The Honorable Elijah Muhammad
objected, He said it should have been
w@ Pid you ever take any
Temple's name from the tibtle oOf
A it wasn't necessayy.
in other words-
A Excuse me, Lvery move | nad: followed
under the guidance of the Honorable Elijah Muhammad
and under his instructions and orders.
Is it your asgertion that Gl s your house?
Yed.
< Since what period of time did you consider

1t as your home?




is was the

name.,

eason e
Temple's property?

| it was in the

because

handled that,.

L LOld gou,

to make the appli-

etary

ption?

Honorable Elijah

'
Honorable E1ijsh Muhammad

him out.

Did you tell the




secresery bo uike an applidation %o got a
emption ag a parsonage on this property?

I vold the secretary that the Honorable

Bl1jah Muham had instructed me to have this prop-
corperade nawe although it was mine.

Sire-

X< btold the that the Honorable

Mubamend tol

1d me or instructed we to have ©

in a corporatie nane

OF papers were necessary to see

on't know.
use minister.
don't Lknow,

bhe minister of

Muhammad's Temple 7.
understand you correctly, that par-

the law corrests itself, the taxe-

the minigter,
Yes, sir, is that correct?

's tax exempt for the use of the minister.

Q It's the parsonage of this payr lay

religlous bod
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Yis, the Ratton of Islam.
It's thelr parsonage, is that right?
kS No, it's mine,
Q I will move 50 the noxt guestion., What was

Aast mortgage payment you made?

A I didn't handle any of the payments.

You haven't paid anything?
The spiritual body whiche-

Answer my question. Have you paid any-

A 8ir, the body was going to pay the complete
sum for the house, cash, and the cash would have been
mine. Rather than 0 put the burden upon the Muslime
of raising such a large sum of money, they only raised
enough for a down payment and then they took the re-
sponsibility of continuing payments each month. This
procedure was uged only to keep from burdening them
outright at that one time,

') X gee. Now, with respoct (0=

A I might say thiss I didn't want a house
nor did I want the house from the start. It was
they who insisted a house be purchased for me,

W Or the ministry?

A For me, not the winistry., It was not




g and whose wmind
been fllled with poison at that time,
this: You were

shat

3d never--

meeting

SMunamnad hed lrebtructed

corporation for tax purposes. He

tructed me to follow tarough Lhe legal
edures t involved corporate bodies,
In other words, you uever called a meeting?
followed Ghe Honoyabls Elijah
sructions.
fonorablie Ellgjah il
is he, in this?
Honorable Eli » unad told mee~
oorporation I'm talking about,

Honorable 114 jan hamaad instructed




Little - recross

rporate laws.

words, the resson you didn't do it

know what to do?
have 8 mowledge of the
¢ Honorable Elijah Muhsmmad's

&
corporate

that my position had re-

instructions in every area

sponsibiliy

body and you

correct?

is that
Honorable Elijah Muhammad a

the house,

wrote

Noy, 1L calls for a yes

What was the guestion?
The question was: Have you now btestified
prepared tc move out of the house

today that you are
a hearing, is that correct?
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Befors Maslin body.
you forgive ne

there are many complex things,

COURTs I lmow but you have
ency to be repetitious. I will let
A anawer 1t own vy, bub dontt be
repetitious,

I want

angwer

here today?

Af you get

31r?

I will leave queation, it a
#ir, that you brgaitc the law when you commented
ident Kennedy

lled for your suspension?
Noe

HRe WILLIAMS: No further

Guestions.




Little - radivect
THE WITNEIS: No. No.
MR. SUTTON: You said no,
REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. SUTTON:

Q You have done the same thing before, haven's
you? You had made comments about chickens coming home
to roost before, hadn't you?

A Yes.

Q They didn't suspend you then, did they?

A Ho. 1 made worse comments. The Honorable
Elijan Muhammad said worse things being how he suspended
me because of what I knew and was afraid I would tell
the Muslims, I told Joseph and Lewis and they sent in
the report that I was spreading false rumors and I came
back and they know all about it., I told him that he had
nine wives, that he had made nine sisters pregnant or,
rather, I mean, six of them pregnant. That's the
reason for which I was suspended, That's the reason
for which I waps put out of the movement and Lewis, the
minister confessed thay he knew about it ell the time.

Q Let me refer now to get back to the point,

The point is landlord's Exhibit 8. I hand you that which

has been admitted in evidence, Minister Malcolm, It

says "ministry home purchased funds reised on sontribupions.”
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¥Were these funde taken f'rom any corporate funds
or were they, just like the statement says, from con=
tributions?
A Yes, they were taken from contributions.
15 had nothing to do with the corporate funds because
we had no corporate funds.
MR, SUTTON: Thank you very much,
The record clearly reflects that it
was contributions,
MR, WILLIAMS: Contributions to the
religious society.
THE COURT: Are you finished, Mr.
Sutton?
MR. SUTTON: Yes.
RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. WILLIAMS:
Q The contributions were frem the religious
soclety, were they not?
A Yes.
Q And the original society 18 the same body
as the religious body?
A The religilous corporation was on paper.

Q But the same people. It's the same body,

one body being two different things, a religious soclety




Littls - reecross
and 2 religious corporation, is that rignt?
A They didn't do 1t as a corporation,
But the title is in the corporation?
Yes, certazinly.

e Didn't you testily earlier that the Honsrable
Elijah Mubammad was disturbed thet title was not in
your name?

A In two different ways.

You or not?
But see in two 4ifferent ways.
Did not you say that
onorable Elijah Muhammad was disturbed because
in your nmme? Y¥es Oor no?
The Honorable Elijah Muhamwad--
MR, SUTTOR: Objection,
THE COURT: Overruled,
ntinuing) The Honorable Eli jah Muhammade-
Yes or no?

MR. SUTTOR: ObJjection to a yes or
no answer as to what he testified to. Ivts
a mattexr of record.

THE COURT: Overruled.

*] Did you not testify that the Honorable Eliljah

Muhammad was disturbed that the tltle was not in yowr




Iittle - recross
nama? Yo or no?

A He was disturbed because--

Q Yes or no?

A He was--yes, he was disturbed because he had
told me that the house should be for me, on the other
hand, the Honorable Elijah Muhammad had always instructed
me on how to handle taxes, 1t was because of the
taxes that would be involved that he instructed me then
o go shead and pus 1t in the sorporate nams or have it
put in the corporate name between the time 1t was pur-
chased in the name of Kenner and the time it was placed

in the corporate name there was the discussion and an

agreement between me and the Honopable Elijahh Muhammed
himself.,
< ¥hich tax was he concerned about?

1 doa't know.

1 Are you saying now that he told you to

this, duek the Taxes?
A i gon't know, slr. First, he insisted that
the home be purchased for me because of the work that
I had done for him and his followers. Then, because
of my own status as & minigter, he %old me that the
beas thing for me to 4o would be o put it in the

corporate name until 1% was paid for, something like




le - recrvss
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that, It hed something %o with the involvement of taxes

but not having a knowledge of real estate law or not

having owned any property, I dldn't know. I had

complete eonfidence and trust in him and I di4d exactly

what he sald,
But you hired a lawyer?
n?
To cloge title?

I have to have a lawyer,

Did you talk to the lawyer about it?

I didn't handle it.

You didn't know ything about it?

I aidn't handle it.

Q Az & matter of fact, you were in Africa

when these discussions were on about buying the home?

You were in Africa at that time?
A waen was the home purchased?
W The home was purchased, sir,
1959,
Well, I went to Africae-
June or July.
Yes, July,

You were not there when they

about it at the temple?

in December of

were talking
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It-was discumsed before I left.

MR, WILLIAMS Yes, I'm finished,
Are you finighed?
Just one question.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. SUTTOR:

@ 8ir, corporate existence, was there in ex-
istence a functioning corporate body known as Muhammad®s
Temple of Islam, Ine, when the douations were received
as recorded here in Landlord's Exhibit 97

MR, WILLIAMS: I object on the
grounds that it calls for a legal conclusion

and calls for a conclusion on the part of

the witness that I don't think he's competent

to answer,

THE COURT: But you can always tell
when an organizatlion has been incorporated or
not. Papers are issued and so forth, The
date will tell you. Allowed.,

MR. SUTTON: I will ask it another




E COURT: I allowed 1it.
MR, SUTTON: I will reframe it,
Q Was there a functioning organization in the
songe of lhaving monles in 1ts own name?

MR, WILLIAMS: I object %o "functione

MR, SUTTON: was btrylag to explain
whet functioning meant.

THE COURTY I let the first guestion
stand,

Q At the time these collections were made that
were recorded in Londlord's Exhibit &, donztions were
given for the purchase of a house which they describe
as a nministry home, was there then in existence a
functioning orgarization known as Muhammed's Tomple of

Islam, Inc.? By "functioning." I mean wes there an

organization whilch was holding meetings, raising funds,

having a bank account or anything of that nature?
THE COURT: Do you want to object?
MR, WILLIAMS: I want to object to it.
THE COURT: Overruled,
ir I understand your question, nothing was

ever done in the name of the corporation. It didn't
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balee up money in its name 9 bank woney in 1i8 name.
Was there a functioning organization? Vas
mte thing by holding meetings and having
a bank aceount, anything of that nature? That's all
I want o kKnow.
Do you mean, did it hold trustec meebtings?
Yes,
No, 1 don't thinke-I don't think I ur

stand yeur gquestions

All »

ralsed on contributions to December
he time thase contributions were made,

functioning organization known

as Muhanmad's Temple of Islam, Ins.? By “functioning"

T

I mean was M d's Temple of Islam, Inc, having
corporate meelinge? Was 1t banki Wap it transacting
buginess as an organization?

A No, we never © U any business as an
organization,

No further questions.

BY MF
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Q But a ocharter had been issued and this
organigation is legally iacorporated under the laws
of the State of dew York, is that corroct?

HR. SUTPON: This calls for a

concluaion,

THE COURT: Mo, this calls for a
legal conclusion as to bLhe date when it was
issued,

On the 1lth day of May 1956, was nct
Muhaomad's Temple of Islam, Inc, legally incorporated
in the State of New Yorl

ObJection. H wouldn't
it was legal.
Do you concede it was

issued?

Q You held w ings without charac iging them,

right?
i How do you mean by that?
have meabings at the temple?
¥You had religious meetings and you had business meet-
ings, did you not?

I3 We had both,
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80 now you don't carry on business at your

3 religious meeti

4 A Yen.

5 < ¥hile you were having devoilons you carry on

6 business; Loo?
U ’ Sometimes we do,
8 At the same time?
Sometimes we do.
1s shis callad for in the Islame-Nation of
Islam? Is ¢ oroper?
fell, 14'%s proper when you have people who
have never b 3 e the importance of
business.
Q ¢ u pay bills and so forth at your
meetings?
A
Q o have mwoniea to pay bills at your
neetings?

A

8et thege monies irom the same place
these meobting You got the money from bhe con-

tributions of the brothers?
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A We got the money from rent and contributions
by Muslins.
MR, WILLIAMS: o further questions.
« SUTTON: No further questions.
TIE COURT: Step down bef'ore they
change thelr minds.
Both sides rest?
MRe SUTTON: i had expected that we
would proces L g I 81 Wit
ness but I Ghilnke-

WILLIAMS: I have two short

¥hat about you?
MR. SUTION: Maybe I can stipulate
with him as to Chem.
Would you step to the bench?

{(Wheruupon, & discussion was had

21

22 314 Bast 143rd Strees, Bronx 51, New York, was

23 called as a witness by the respondent, was duly

24 affirmed and testified as follows:

25 DIRKCT EXAHINATION
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2 BY MR, SUTTON

8 @ Tell me, sir, how long have you been in the
religious body known as the Nation of Islam?

A I became a Muslin in the Nation of Islam the

year of 1960,

Q During the period of your time in the Nation

of Islam, have you had occasion to see the methods, the

practices and procedures followed by the Nation of Islam
in removing brotherz as wel
Nation of Islam?

A Yea,

13 Q Tell me the methods both of removal from the

14 brothers as well as the r8, If you know, sipr.
bL :

15 A In the Netion of Isiam, it is the law and the

16 poliey that sny Maslim, including ministers who violate

17 the law, must have seen that brother doing whatever that

18met that he was mecused of and 1o the meantime they

19have investigators and various mosques throughout the

20gountry who writes un these yarious laws that these

2lgifrorent members violate and when they write them up,

22ghey mend them into Chicago, ihen they

89%es into Chioago,

23chny have to wait for hearings when these letters are

24acted upon by the supreme capiain, the Honorable El1 jah

25.~:uhamd himself. Then they'rc sent back to the various
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mosques and then that individual is brought bef'ore the
board and is glven his time out which sometimes is
¥, sometimes is one

Q

"Given his time out," is that after a hearing?

After the hear

Q ¢ this hearing, is the brother entitled
0 confrontation by the person accusing him?

A The brother 1s entitled--there is the law

bat he muat fase his docuser.

Q Have you ever seen any broth 1 time
you have been there removed except by the methods you
described?

A There is no brethereeit ia the vislation for
any brother aceording t0 the law, the Nation of Islam
here in the--

THE COURT: What do you mean by “the
law™? . What lew?

THE WITNESS: The law which is laid
down in the religious body of Islam,.

Q When you say "the law," this is not @ written
law? This is custom, practice and procedure and teaching?

A That's right, by the religlous teaching of
the Honorable Elijah Huhawmad,

Q Have you ever seen this in writil




Morris ~ direct

As a matter of fodt, there Lip nothing in

writing, As a wabtter of fact, dictatorial powers by

the Honorable Elijek Muhammad.

SUTTON: fothing further.

you a minister?
No.
You are not guelified to mpeak with respec

to removal of ministers and procadure, &re

I am qualilied.

Overruled. He 1s bound
by his answer,
SUTTON: Just m moment. Did
ny objection? I object to that
portion which asks him &8 he¢ qualified, It's
an ilmproper question 50 ask him.
THE COUr it's proper cross examin-
ation. I learned that a long time ago.
MR, SUITCN: To ask a man whether
he's qualified?
THE COURDs If he wants to accept

his answer, he's bound by his answer.
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your questi

visitors have

you known in the

11, I have known a number of ministers.
nember of ple

Tomple? Axe
member Temple

Number

am now 2 meube funber 7.
You a

rember of the Nation of Islam,

i were you last at Temple Number 77
haven't baen at mple
four or five--abo bty cloge to six or seven months,
8ix or seven months?

Yes,

Correct.

80 you haven't been

religious obligations, have you?
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My religiour oblirations?
Of geing to the Tumple,
Yes.
Where have you been going to keep them upn?
¥hat mosquse have you been g0
A I don't have to necesgarily go to the mosque
to keep up with my religious obligationg,.
Q Have you been going to the mosqgue?
A I don't have to g the mesque,
£ you that.
Not a custom that I have to go bhe mosque.
Have you been going to any temple?
Yes.
. SUTTX ObJection, It's wide
from the point.
Why not ask him a
blunt question what you have
One question I have in mind, You no longer
20 belong to this temple. You are a follower of ML
21¥8leolm, is that true?
22 y ) Every minister is a follower of Minister

23Maleolm because he taught every one of us,

24 < i asked you one guestions Do you belong to

2s5bhis mosque and are you a follower of the
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Nosque that was Halcolm

now leads?

mosques”

temples ang g

That's




wever wers an offis of Temple 7%

not an official, I was a Muslim

Were you an official?

You 4

other temples?

you ever boe

ister was

" was removed?

nes?

4 was present in Washingbon, D.
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Row long ago waa thet?

Some time ago.

dgewood Sireet, Hartford, Comnecticut,
witness by tin diord, was duly

followi

particular moggue¥
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woague f

Number 14, Hartford, Connecticut and Number
Springfiecld, Massachussetts,
&

Jou acquainted with the procedures of
ny and

of

removal

ministers?

you hear the

testimony given by Minister

of any

procedure or any time
where

that there be a hearing before the--

I ask %o examine on

an expert.

belng called as
Suppose you save it

lager.

MR, SUTTON: All right

Ave you familiar with U

Yes.

lave A heard of 8¢ procodures

removal of & minister, is it required
that there be a nearing?

A

The Honorable £lijanh Muhammad has complete




Ly one, to appoint

regular

wOsQue

nag--80

young man and

we cashed the

and gave it ¢t him myself plus we
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enges and even most ©

are there reages of ministers?

minister of the Honorable

catlon.

laleolm was suspe

Elijah Muhammad 1
we himpelf not

atalemer

all of us to teach

the Sunday he made th
they were contrary to what
pad had told us to do.

tha
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MY, WILLIAME: No further questions.
)88 E

BY MR. SUTTON:

] You sald he was suspended &s a result of
bhats Do you know this of your own personsi
Did you hear the Honorsble Elijah Muhammad~-

A lie told mew-

Q (continuing) D1 you hear the Honorable
Sl jan Mubszmuad suspend Minister NMalecla X2

A I heard what the Honoreble Elijah Muhammad

% That's not the question, You said that was
the roason {or his suspengion. Did you heax tha Hone
ble Elijah Muhaumad suspend Malcolm X?
A Malcolm X told wme that the Honorable Elijah
d suspended him,
4 you hear hin?
1 didn's hear the Honoreble Elijah Muhammad,
Thank you. As & matter of fact, the mosque
that you come from was ovganized by Minister Malcolm
X, wasntt it?
A He went through, There was a few Muslims
and I went there and the Honorable Elijah Muhammad

me the minister of that mosque.
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Mahansuad

s wasn't

1 Muhammad never told
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to confroni
removed?
imea they do. Sometim
Does he have the right
and
over again.
e8 a brother under the practice
cedures of the Muslim falth in America
0 8 heaviag before the dongregation opr bod
accusers wihere he stands trial, to hear the
accused of and the ri
be removed?
has a right L5 cage before
officialn the mosque. e 1s & higher off'icial,
one that ¢ emove 2 captain or a minister, 1is
Honorable ijah Muhammad himself,
D34 the Honorable El4 fah Mubhammiad
move Minister Malcolm?
told me he did.
When did he tell you that?
This was afver his suspension.

that time and Nalcolm told me that he

was suspended by the norable Elijah Muhammad and

that it was the best thing thabt ever happened Lo him




Ridges -« cross
ause thaey probably wc
statement he made about--
Let's not go

He just made a

probably would have

0, that the public over
statement that he mede neerning preside the
general public were aroused because the president had
died and he ma 2 half cocked statement, B8Sc then he
sald the HAonorable Elijah Muhamsad set him down. It
probably saved his life,
you that he might have gotten

By the peovple who were involved by the death

president,

He v0ld you that?




Yos.
On what date did
1 don't re
What month did he
ifPer his
While

he

Yes. told me

suspended him and

He has severed his

Yea.
Does

natlonal

headquarte

the

Ro,

PR, WILLIA

RECROSS EXAMINATION

w do you know

ber the

was still

MG

he tell you t

dat

date.

suspension.

in

ionorable

he sus

Nothing

relavicnshi

othes

that?

suspensic

Honorable




Khen you say that, you ar

't kmow of

nowledge

on was tk

finished
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